1963

Howard B. Ericksen v. Robert L. Poulsen : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF KIND OF CASE

This is an action by the Plaintiff for Breach of Warranty to recover damages or the purchase price paid for a Ponies of America Stallion by the name of "Apple Jack" purchased under the Sales Act of Utah, upon the Complaint of the Plaintiff alleging among other things a Breech of Warranty of fitness for purpose, which Defendant in his Answer denied.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was tried to the Court, sitting without a jury from a Judgment for Defendant of no cause of action. The Court dismissed Plaintiff's Complaint, Plaintiff appeals.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks reversal of the Judgment, and Judgment in Plaintiff's favor as a matter of law .

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is an action by plaintiff to recover damages or the purchase price paid for a P. O. A. Stallion by the name of "Apple Jack."

The Trial Court found that the sale to Plaintiff was made on the 29th day of May, 1961, and that Plaintiff paid the sum of \$1500 to Defendant for the stallion, and that as a result of the sterility of the P. O. A. Stallion, Plaintiff incurred \$24 veterinarian expenses and \$100 as expenses for breeding and caring for the horse. (Trial Court's Findings, paragraph No. 1, Amendment to Findings, dated the 16th day of July, 1963, paragraph 14.)

The findings of the Court (twice amended by the Court) established that both parties to the sale knew prior to the sale that the horse was to be used by Plaintiff for breeding purposes. The horse after the sale was transported to Hamilton, Montana, the residence of the Plaintiff, where it was found, by the Plaintiff, to be incapable of begetting offspring and was unfit for the purposes for which it was purchased by Plaintiff. (Trial Court's Amended Findings, dated the 16th day of July, 1963, Paragraphs No. 10, 11, 12, and 13.)

The Court found that while "Apple Jack" was able to impregnate one mare prior to the sale, that after the sale he was then unable to impregnate Plaintiff's mares. The Court was then unable to make any finding as to whether the animal was in fact infertile at the time of sale. (Trial Court's findings, Paragraph No. 15 as amended on the 16th day of July, 1963.)

From the Findings of Fact the Court concluded in the Court's Conclusions of Law that the Court from the evidence could not predicate the finding of alleged unfitness at the time of the sale of "Apple Jack" to the Plaintiff. The Court further concluded that no rescission was attempted within a reasonable time after Plaintiff was put on notice as to "Apple Jack's" claimed infertility and that Plaintiff made no offer to deliver the stallion in as good or equal condition as it was then received by Plaintiff, and that "Apple Jack's" death was not caused in any way by reason of the claim of "Apple Jack's" incapability to impregnate mares. By reason thereof, the Court concluded that Plaintiff had no cause of action against the Defendant. (Court's Conclusions of Law, paragraphs 1, 2, 3, and 4, and paragraph No. 5 as amended on the 16th day of July, 1963.)

ARGUMENT

Point 1. The Trial Court erred in its Conclusion of Law No. 5 as found in the Amended Conclusions of Law dated the 16th day of July, 1963.

The Finding of Fact, Paragraph No. 10 as amended on the 16th day of July, 1963, states that Defendant represented the stallion as fit and capable of producing offspring. That at the time the defendant knew it was the intention of Plaintiff to purchase the P. O. A. Stallion for breeding purposes, and that the Plaintiff relied upon the representations, knowledge, and integrity of the Defendant. (Findings No. 11 and 12.)

The Finding of Fact, Paragraph No. 13, was amended on the 16th day of July, 1963, states that the stallion was incapable of begetting offspring and was unfit for the purpose for which it was purchased.

Taking these Findings of Fact, the Court concluded in its Conclusions of Law, that there was not sufficient evidence presented by the Plaintiff to find the unfitness of the stallion as of the time of sale.

Other Courts have not had the same troubles. See *Eden vs. Vloedman*, 214 P 2d, 930, where the Oklahoma Supreme Court, in 1949, held that a seller of cows warranted that they were fit for breeding purposes, and immediately after the sale they began to calf prematurely because they were infected with banks disease, the warranty was breached even if the defect was not fully developed at the time of sale, the Court allowing in evidence the statement of a veterinary eight months after the sale of said cattle that he examined ten head of said cattle,

picked at random and found them affected with bangs disease.

In *Mousel vs. Widker*, 69 NW 2d, 783, the case appealed to the Supreme Court of North Dakota in 1955, where the Trial Court's failure to give certain instructions on an implied warranty, the North Dakota Supreme Court stated, citing other cases, that where an animal is purchased for breeding purposes and the seller as well as the buyer knew that the animal was purchased for breeding purposes, and the purchaser introduced evidence showing sterility, the general rule pronounced by the Courts is that in such sales there is an implied warranty available as a basis for action, that the thing purchased is reasonably suitable for the purpose for which it is to be used. In the case of *Mousel vs. Widker*, the Court cited the case of *Peterson vs. Dreher*, 194 NW. 53.

46 Am. Jur., page 573, states that testimony of third persons who examine the horse immediately after its sale and while in buyer's possession is admissible to prove unsoundness at the time of sale, absent any evidence introduced that would tend to show that purchaser was in some manner responsible for the sterility or infertility as the case may be.

In the case of *Studebaker Brothers Co., vs. Anderson*, 50 Ut. 319, 67 P. 663, this Court held that the unfitness of an automobile was proved by evidence showing that the automobile was not fit for the purpose when

it was in the possession of the purchaser. The case does not make note nor consider the question of whether or not the car was fit at the time of the sale, but bases its decision upon the fitness of the automobile while in the possession of the purchaser . . . implying that fitness at the instant the sale takes place is not a necessary requisite to the maintenance of the action.

(See further in this regard 53 A. L. R. 2d, 844; 77 C. J. S. 1188; and Balch vs. Newberry, 252 P. 2d, 153, Oklamoho, 1953.)

As a further argument, the Trial Court did not find that there was a change in the physical condition of the stallion after the sale and before arrival in Hamilton, Montana, where it was found to be unfit by the Plaintiff. Absence of such a finding would predicate only one finding: That the stallion must have been in the same condition at the time of the sale, notwithstanding Finding of Fact No. 5, and the nebulous No. 9, which were made before Plaintiff's motion to amend Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and should be regarded as amended as they are inconsistent with the later Findings of Fact, Paragraph 13, and the Judge's Memorandum Decision.

Point 2. That the Trial Court erred in making Conclusions of Law, No. 4, and the Judgment.

The Conclusions of Law and the Findings of Fact are not consistent. The Judgment, although supported

by the Conclusions of Law, is not supported by the Findings of Fact. In the case of *Mason vs. Mason*, 160 P. 2d, 730, 108, Utah, 428, this Court said as follows:

“It is fundamental that the Conclusions of Law must be predicated and find their support in the Findings of Fact, and the Judgment must follow the conclusions of Law, and if the Conclusions of Law are at variance with the findings, the Supreme Court will order the lower court to set aside its erroneous conclusions and substitute correct ones therefor.”

For further cases see: *Parrot Brothers vs. Ogden City*, 50 Utah, 512, 167 P. 807; and again we find *Brittian vs Gorman*, 42 Utah, 586, 133 P. 370, where this Court said: That Conclusions of Law must be based upon the facts and must be considered with the facts, and in a like fashion the Court's decree must rest upon legal conclusions and be consistent with them. A judgment, if in conformity with the findings, will not be distributed; and of course, the converse is true. A judgment not in conformity with the findings cannot be permitted to stand.

In the last above cited case, the Judgment was vacated and set aside and the case remanded to the District Court with instructions to make and enter additional findings, if necessary, conclusions of law supported by the findings, and a decree in harmony with the opinion.

The Plaintiff-Appellant cites the *Mason* case supra,

the Parrot Brothers Company case *supra*, and the Britian case *supra*, as authority for error in that the judgment in the case at bar denies Plaintiff relief, yet the Findings of Fact and the Memorandum of the Judge clearly states that the Court finds the facts and makes the legal conclusions in accordance with Plaintiff's theory of the case, except for the fact that the Court found Plaintiff delayed in attempting to rescind the contract.

The second reason, wherein Plaintiff-Appellant alleges that the Trial Court erred in making its Conclusions of Law, is the fact that the Court denied Plaintiff recovery as found in the Judgment and dismissed Plaintiff's complaint, apparently predicating its decision upon the fact that the Plaintiff did not attempt rescission upon a reasonable time after Plaintiff was put on notice of "Apple Jack's" infertility. The question is one dealing with election of remedies.

In the case of *Balch vs. Newberry*, cited *supra*, upon the filing of a complaint by the Plaintiff, the Defendant filed a motion to elect demanding that the Plaintiff make his election to sue for damages or to sue for the rescission of the contract.

In the case at bar, Plaintiff's complaint prays for judgment against the Defendant in the amount of \$1500, being the purchase price of the horse, together with various costs expended by Plaintiff. The second para-

graph is a prayer for rescission of the contract of sale for Breach of Warranty and for damages stated in the first paragraph. Plaintiff's prayer is double-barreled in the respect that it first asks for damages and alternatively asks for rescission. The Defendant did not, as in the case of Balch vs. Newberry, supra, make or file any motion to compel Plaintiff to elect a remedy. At no time during the trial of the matter did the Defendant move for an election. The Trial Court apparently based its decision upon rescission and did not consider the first paragraph of Plaintiff's prayer for relief based upon damages for Breach of Warranty. In this regard, the Trial Court erred. Section 60-5-7, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, states that when the buyer has claimed and has been granted a remedy in any one of these ways, no other remedy is available. At no time did the Defendant request Plaintiff to elect a remedy, nor was an election made other than that found in the pleadings. The judgment of the Court does not grant a remedy as it was made upon the assumption that Plaintiff had elected rescission when in fact, Plaintiff's first prayer for relief contains a claim for damages. In the case of Kramer vs. K. O. Lee and Sons, 237 NW 166, where the North Dakota Supreme Court held that: "Though Plaintiff failed to rescind within time, they are not necessarily shut off from all remedy. It is only when they have claimed and have been granted the remedy of rescission under the provisions of

Section 5591A (our Section 60-5-7, Sub 2 ,Utah Code Annotated, 1953) that this method is exclusive.”

Quoting other cases :

“It is true that the complaint is based upon rescission and asks for the return of the purchase price, but the counterclaim is in itself an action brought by the Defendants against Plaintiffs and the reply must be treated as an answer. In the reply the Plaintiff realleges the allegations that their signatures were obtained by fraud and deceit, and they asked for relief demanded in the complaint; that is, the return of the purchase price paid, together with the re-delivery of the notes and mortgages. Having failed to show timely rescission, Plaintiffs are relegated to their right to damages as an offset to suit on the notes and mortgages.”

So it is in the case that the Plaintiff, assuming that he is barred from an action or rescission, is not barred from bringing an action in damages. See further 78 C. J. S. 144 where it is stated:

“It has been held that the buyer must elect between affirmance and rescission of the contract, and that he is bound by his election. But it has been held that an unsuccessful suit for the purchase price paid based in a rescission of the contract of sale does not preclude a recovery of damages, and that a buyer who has waived his right to rescind may sue for damages, and that a buyer who has waived his claim for damages may rescind and reclaim the consideration paid. A buyer who elects to affirm the contract and sue for damages has the entire period allowed by the

Statute of Limitations in which to institute his action, but a buyer who elects to rescind must act within a reasonable time.”

It is, therefore, realleged that the Trial Court's action in dismissing plaintiff's complaint was untimely and that the Trial Court, although finding Plaintiff delayed too long to commence an action for rescission was entitled to receive damages inasmuch as Plaintiff never claimed and had never been granted the remedy of rescission under the provisions of Section 60-5-7, Sub 2, Utah Code Annotated, 1953.

The Utah Supreme Court, in the case of Studebaker Brothers Company, vs. Anderson, 50 Utah, 319 P. 663, 1916, held that the Defendant had the remedy of rescission of the contract but that was not the only remedy the Defendants could invoke as the vendee had a right to rescind the contract and recover back the purchase price, or he may retain the article and hold the vendor for his damages. The Court cited 28 Cyc. 44.

POINT 3. That the Trial Court erred in making Conclusion of Law No. 3.

The first two points considered in this brief consider the errors of the Trial Court for failing to grant relief to the Plaintiff on grounds not considered by that Court or grounds inconsistently decided by that Court. This Point concerns itself with the proposition that the Trial Court erred in making the decision as found in the Judg-

ment. For this argument only the record of the case is referred to and only that portion of the record dealing with the conversations between Plaintiff and his wife and the Defendant occurring after the sale. The findings of the Court support the other facts considered. The conclusion states that Plaintiff did not attempt to rescind the contract within a reasonable time, yet the testimony indicates the Defendant encouraged the Plaintiff to keep the stallion, thereby waiving the provision for rescission after a reasonable time.

Mrs. Erickson, the wife of the Plaintiff, stated that soon after the purchase of the horse and upon discovery of his infertility, that during the conversation over the telephone the defendant said, "Just wait awhile and give the horse a chance to mature since he was just a young horse." That Mrs. Ericksen replied that she agreed to take the advice of the Defendant. Thereafter, certain letters were written by the Plaintiff notifying Defendant of the infertility of the stallion. (Transcript page 54, lines 12-18, Transcript page 255.)

Mr. Mereness, a witness for Defendant, testified that he, under the direction of the Defendant, took another stallion to the Plaintiff's ranch for breeding purposes. (Transcript page 193 and Transcript page 205.)

Doctor Poulsen admitted the fact of the telephone call, and stated in his testimony that with time the horse

would get maturity and breed. (Transcript page 218, line 15.)

It would appear from the record that there is uncontradicted evidence of notification by Plaintiff to Defendant soon after the sale on May 29, 1961, and that at Defendant's request and advice Plaintiff retained the animal, which subsequently died from causes apart from his infertility. There is little doubt from the letters in evidence as to the question of attempted rescission after the death of the horse.

Section 60-5-7 (5) states that:

“Where the buyer is entitled to rescind the sale and elects to do so, if the seller refuses to accept an offer of the buyer to return the goods, the buyer shall thereafter be deemed to hold the goods as bailee . . .”

Sub-paragraph 3 of the same action states that where the goods have been delivered the buyer cannot rescind the contract if he fails to *notify* the seller within a reasonable time of his election to rescind, or to *offer* to return the goods in substantially the same condition. These sub sections state that only notification and an offer are requisites and not the filing of complaints claiming rescission and physical delivery of the property to the door of the seller. The evidence shows that there was notification and that Defendant requested Plaintiff to keep the horse “awhile” and now Defendant main-

tains that Plaintiff waited too long. The Trial Court erred in holding that an unreasonable time had passed.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, it is urged that the decision of the Lower Court be reversed. Directions to enter judgment in favor of Plaintiff as prayed for in his complaint, firstly for damages and secondly and alternatively for rescission of the contract.

By inference, the Trial Court has barred Plaintiff's recovery by way of damages and specifically barred Plaintiff's recovery by way of rescission for the Breach of Warranty which was error. The Appellant herein does not claim both remedies, and realizes that only one remedy may be granted. Therefore, Plaintiff asserts to this Honorable Court his right for damages as set forth in the first paragraph of Plaintiff's prayer, and in the alternative for rescission as set forth in the second paragraph of Plaintiff's prayer for relief.

As a concluding remark, Plaintiff cites to the Court the memorandum decision of the Judge, upon which the original Findings of Fact should have been predicated, which states as follows:

“That Plaintiff cannot recover in this action because he delayed too long after ascertaining that “Apple Jack” could not impregnate the mares before he attempted to rescind.”

Again in the memorandum it is said:

“Except for the foregoing, the Court finds facts and makes legal conclusions in accordance with Plaintiff’s theory of the case. Findings of Fact, Conclusions and a Judgment dismissing the action may be prepared because rescission was not attempted within a reasonable time after Plaintiff was put on notice as to “Apple Jack’s” infertility.”

The thinking of the Trial Court was with the Plaintiff and the Findings of Fact as amended reaffirm this fact. Cases need not be cited wherein it is stated that the Supreme Court will not alter the findings of the Trial Court if there is reasonable evidence to support the findings. Plaintiff-Appellant does not in any manner contest the findings, but reaffirms to this Court as a matter of law the Trial Court erred in making its conclusions from the Findings.