1963

# Howard B. Ericksen v. Robert L. Poulsen : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS CONCLUSIONS OF LAW NO. 5 AS FOUND IN THE AMENDED CONCLUSIONS OF LAW DATED 16TH DAY OF JULY, 1963, Rec. 300).

The plaintiff had the burden of proof and from that proof the court had to find and conclude, as set out in his conclusion of law No. 5, as follows:

"5. That sufficient evidence has not been presented by the plaintiff on which the court could predicate a finding concerning the alleged unfitness of Applejack to breed as of the time of sale."

The court, at that time, had watched the witnesses, had had an opportunity to observe signalling, (Rec. 14) and had had an opportunity to see the inconsistencies of some of the documents that were handed in as exhibits. For instance, defendant's exhibit No. 26, which is a letter over the signature of plaintiff's expert witness J. W. Jackson, a veterinary of the Veterinary Clinic of Hamilton, Montana, dated January 10th, 1962, and addressed as follows: "To Whom It May Concern." The first paragraph of this exhibit says:

"On June 26, 1961, I was called out to examine a P.O.A. Stud for Howard Erickson. He stated that mares *repeatedly* returned to estrus after breeding." (*Italics added.*)

Now, this statement, when analyzed and when it is considered that it was made up after the stallion's death, leads one to believe that it was an attempt to obtain an advantage under a false premise. For instance, the heat period of estrus, as referred to by the doctor in his letter, is 18 to 21 days (Rec. 218), and they stay in this heat period for several days (Rec. 215). The plaintiff took the stallion to Idaho Falls over Decoration Day (Rec. 12) and left on Wednesday of said week and claims the first attempt to breed was the day after he got home (Rec. 13). This would put the first mare to be bred approximately the first day of June. We have nothing in the record to show whether she was bred at the beginning of her heat period or at the end of it, but she would not come in heat again for 18 to 21 days after the end of the heat period.

The next mare was bred the following Sunday and the same problem arises. The doctor, in his letter, says that the mares *repeatedly* returned to estrus, which would have to be more than once, which is physically impossible to happen. Then again, other exhibits were offered in with inconsistencies. Plaintiff's exhibits 4 to 10 inclusive, being breeding certificates, show \$50.00 paid for the service fee and the plaintiff claimed he paid the \$350.00 for the seven breeding certificates (Rec. 19). Again exhibits 11 to 16 show a \$50.00 breed fee each and plaintiff alleges he paid the said \$50.00 each (Rec. 20). On voir dire examination (Rec. 22) he admitted he gave for the breeding certificates shown as Exhibits 11 to 16, two mares and a bridle. These two mares were sold shortly after, one being sold for \$65.00 and the other for \$72.50 (Rec. 195). The stallion Little Earthquake actually belonged to the defendant Dr. Poulsen, and he was taken there as a courtesy at the request of Dr. Poulsen by Mr. Merenes (Rec. 193) and the consideration given being the two mares and a bridle was for the expense of the trip (Rec. 199) going and the picking of the stallion again at a later date. In regard to the exhibits 4 to 10, it developed on cross-examination that there had been no money passed on that either (Rec. 34) but it was just a trade and that these certificates were obtained and made up when they were getting ready to prepare for trial, and after the stallion's death.

Plaintiff, in his brief on page 4, quotes certain parts from different paragraphs out of the Findings and



leaves other parts out to suit his convenience, which creates a different impression than the actual findings if taken as a whole. For instance, in paragraph 10, he leaves off the last phrase:

“ . . . by reason of past performance.”

which ties back to Finding of Fact No. 2, which has reference to the breeding while in the hands of the defendant, having produced a live colt. Finding No. 11 of the amendments ties again back to paragraph 2. The amended Finding No. 12, which was included at the instance of the plaintiff, speaks of representation, that is, representation of past performance, as spoken of in Findings No. 10 and 2, the knowledge and integrity spoken of would again refer to past performance, that is, that the horse had been bred to two mares and both mares appeared to be settled and it later proved that one gave birth to a live foal and the other was sold and lost track of, and it cannot be determined whether or not she gave birth to a live colt. The record is clear and the court so found that a foal was born from the breeding while in the hands of the defendant. The live foal is living proof of the fitness of the stallion while in the hands of the defendant and there is nothing in the record to show that this condition ever changed until the stallion got in the hands of the plaintiff, when it was so unwisely handled. Again, we find that the plaintiff in his brief, on page 4, leaves out a pertinent part in quoting from paragraph 13 from the findings to-wit:

“ . . . and that after said animal was transported from Tremonton, Utah, to Hamilton, Montana, he was then unable to impregnate plaintiff's mares, this court is unable, from the evidence, or to make any finding as to whether said animal was in fact infertile at the time of sale.”

It must be remembered that each and all of the expert witnesses who testified, and there were four, claimed that all of the evidence showed the young stallion, in each and all of the tests and the post-mortem examination, revealed that he was, in fact, producing sperm in each and every occasion and that he could not be classed as sterile at any time. Each and all of the experts agree that the stress, strain, nervous excitement, over breeding, improper diet, transportation, sickness, infection and many other things either in the mare or the stallion, could affect the ability to have the mare become impregnated even with live sperm present.

The Prestons, in their brief quote from the case of Eden vs. Vloedman, 14 P2d 930. From an examination of this case it appears that bangs disease was reported in the cows. It also appears that the court apparently was satisfied that the bangs disease was present at the time of sale, though not fully developed. This is contrary to any findings in our case. They also quote the case of Petersen vs. Dreher, 194 NW 53, which raised the question of whether an express warranty excluded any implied warranty. In this action, the trial court granted defendant's motion for a directed verdict. When it was heard before the Supreme Court

they held that the plaintiff had offered evidence that the sow was sterile at the time of sale and the court held that the case should have been submitted to a jury for breach of implied warranty, so that the jury might determine whether or not the defect existed at the time of sale. This case could not apply because the court, in our case, found that there was not sufficient evidence to warrant a finding that the defect did exist at the time of sale.

They quote the case of Studebaker Bros vs. Anderson, 50 Utah 319, 67 P. 663, involving an automobile which, to the writer of this brief, should not be applicable for two reasons. One, that anything that is alive and under the custody and control of man, has, its very existence, subject to the treatment that it receives from the hand of man from day to day. The other reason is that the whole reasoning of the court, in this case, indicated that the defect did apparently exist at the time of sale, which is contrary to the findings in our case.

Their quotation from 46 Am. Jur., page 573, refers to an examination immediately after sale, while the first examination that we had in this case was nearly a month later, by third parties.

The Mousel vs. Widker case, 69 NW 2d 783, N.D., was a case where, in the trial in the District Court, the seller sued for the balance due on the purchase price. Judgment was rendered for seller. Thereafter, on motion, a new trial was granted and there was an appeal

from the order granting a new trial. The Supreme Court held that the instruction on express and implied warranties and contracts were incomplete, misleading and amounted to misdirection, and that the court did not abuse its discretion in granting a new trial. This was not a decision on its merits but upon the question of whether or not the jury had been properly instructed and the Supreme Court said it was the court's duty if there had been evidence of either express or implied warranty or both, to properly instruct upon it. The court had instructed on both theories. The court said, page 786, lefthand column:

“In the instant case no request was made by the defendant for more complete instructions on implied warranty. Under the rule stated in the above cases he is barred from raising any objections to the insufficiency of the charge on implied warranty. However, he is not barred on his motion for a new trial from claiming as error that the instructions the court gave on implied warranty amounted to misdirection. That he has a right to do even though he failed to ask for more complete instructions and is barred from objecting on the grounds of non-direction not amounting to misdirection.”

The motion for a new trial was sustained.

In viewing the citations given by appellant in 53 ALR 2d 884, it shows on any of the cases cited that are applicable that the implied warranty covered a defect that was in existence at time of sale. We also have this same doctrine, that the defect must exist at the time of sale, found in 46 Am. Jur., page 571.

## POINT II

### THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN MAKING CONCLUSION OF LAW NO. 4, AND THE JUDGMENT.

The Findings of Fact taken collectively show (Rec. 288, 289, 299, and 300) : The purchase; sale for breeding in keeping with age of 21 months; representing breeding to two mares and a live foal being born; in hands of plaintiff, breeding by plaintiff, but no foal; disease on plaintiff's premises; tests showing live and dead sperm; death from abscesses caused by distemper on plaintiff's premises; post-mortem showing at death production of active spermatozoa; no attempt to rescind sale prior to death of stallion; many factors relating to either mare or stallion such as age, physical condition of one or both contribute to failure of mares to get with foal; stallion represented fit and capable by reason of past performance; defendant knew stallion purchased for breeding and plaintiff relied on representations of defendant, but after transportation was incapable of begetting offspring; some expenses incurred by plaintiff in veterinary and feeding; prior to sale bred twice, proof of one impregnation, but after transportation, unable to impregnate; that the court is unable from evidence to find animal infertile at time of sale.

From these findings (Rec. 290) the conclusion No. 4, which is as follows:

“4. That plaintiff has no cause of action against defendant.”

and also conclusion No. 5 (Rec. 300):

“5. That sufficient evidence has not been presented by the plaintiff on which the court could predicate a finding concerning the alleged unfitness of Applejack to breed as of the time of sale.”

The Judgment (Rec. 291) merely carried these Findings and Conclusions into effect. We believe that the Findings and Conclusions as well as the Judgment are proper and are in keeping with the law and adjudicated cases.

Appellant states that he pleads for damages (Rec. 263) but prays for two remedies (Rec. 264)—judgment for damages in one paragraph — rescission and damages in another paragraph and equitable relief in a third paragraph, and complains because defendant did not demand an election of remedies. It must be remembered at the time of the commencement of the action the stallion was dead and could not be returned to the seller so that the rescission as provided for in subparagraph (d) of Section 60-5-7 U.C.A., could not apply. The appellant evidently recognized this for he set out in his proposed findings and conclusions (Rec. 296) paragraph 9:

“ . . . at no time prior to the death of said stallion on the 13th day of December, 1961, or prior to the 14th day of December, 1962, the date when the said complaint was filed, did the plaintiff attempt to rescind said sale or return the stallion in the condition it was at the time of sale.”

And in his proposed conclusions (Rec. 297) he says:

“4. That plaintiff has suffered damages in the amount of \$1,450 by reason of the breach of warranty and has elected to sue for breach of warranty and the difference between the amount paid for the stallion and its actual value.

5. That plaintiff cannot rescind the contract of sale because of his delay in attempting rescission and further that plaintiff cannot return the stallion in substantially the same condition as it was when received.”

The plaintiff has prayed for damages. Under the statute he cannot rescind because he cannot return the subject matter of the sale. The defendant defended and said the animal, when delivered, was as represented, and if any change took place while in plaintiff's hands it was because of plaintiff's abuse and mishandling. Then if the court, after hearing all of the evidence, finds and concludes that sufficient evidence had not been presented by the plaintiff on which the court could predicate a finding concerning the alleged unfitness of Applejack to breed as of the time of sale, he then has no cause of action.

### POINT III

#### THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN MAKING CONCLUSION OF LAW NO. 3.

This conclusion of Law No. 3 (Rec. 289) reads as follows:

“3. That the death of Applejack was not caused in any way by reason of the claim of

Applejack's incapability to impregnate plaintiff's mares."

Evidently the plaintiff has reference to conclusions of law No. 2, not 3, at least it appears so from his argument. Let us take the exact testimony of Mrs. Erickson (Rec. 54, line 14) :

"A. Well, I asked if it was Dr. Poulsen and he said yes. So I told him about the tests that were made on the horse and that. Then he asked us if we would wait a while and give the horse a chance to mature, since he was just a young horse, which we agreed to do."

Dr. Poulsen's testimony on this (Rec. 218, line 21) :

"A. She told me that the horse wasn't settling her mares and that they were real disappointed in the horse, that he was not settling the mares. I again told her that he was quite young to be carrying on much of a breeding program, and I asked her, as I remember I asked her how many she'd bred, and I don't recall the number. She told me she'd bred a few. I don't remember exactly how many. But I told her that maybe with time the horse would get a little more maturity, he'd probably breed.

Q. Was there anything said at that time about wanting to bring him back?

A. No, sir."

From the record of the conversation does it meet the requirements of Section 60-5-7 subparagraph (d) U.C.A., which reads as follows:



**"60-5-7. Remedies for breach of warranty—**

**(1) Where there is a breach of warranty by the seller, the buyer may, at his election; (a) Accept or keep the goods and set up against the seller the breach of warranty by way of recoupment in diminution or extinction of the price; (b) Accept or keep the goods and maintain an action against the seller for damages for the breach of warranty;**

**(c) Refuse to accept the goods, if the property therein has not passed, and maintain an action against the seller for damages for the breach of warranty; or,**

**(d) Rescind the contract to sell or the sale, and refuse to receive the goods, or, if the goods have already been received, return them or offer to return them to the seller and recover the price or any part thereof which has been paid."**

There certainly was no stallion returned or offered to be returned, as provided in sub-paragraph (d) of paragraph 1 of Section 60-5-7, U.,C.A., so that sub-paragraph 5 of Section 60-5-7, U.C.A., could not apply nor any of the reasoning set out by appellant.

## **POINT IV**

**THE TRIAL COURT WAS THE TRIER OF THE FACTS AND TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACT WILL NOT BE DISTURBED AS LONG AS THEY ARE SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE OR UNLESS THERE IS NO REASONABLE BASIS IN EVIDENCE.**

The most recent case of *Lowe vs. Rosenlof et al.*, 12 Utah 2d 190, 364 P2d 418, on page 419, right column on Pacific Reporter, says:

“(1) This court has stated on numerous occasions that findings of fact made by the trial court will not be disturbed so long as they are supported by substantial evidence. Therefore, the findings of the lower court must be affirmed unless there was no reasonable basis in the evidence on which the court could fairly and rationally have thought the requisite proof was met.”

The same doctrine is found in *Child vs. Child*, 8 Utah 2d 261, 332 P2d 981, and in *DeVas v. Noble*, 13 Utah 2d 133, 369 P2d 290.

## CONCLUSION

The young stallion, before sale or after, was never sterile. His breeding ability could increase or decrease from time to time, according to favorable or unfavorable handling. His untimely death brought about on account of disease, contracted on the premises of the plaintiff which caused abscesses in the brain, destroyed a very desirable animal. The evidence adduced by the four veterinarians showed how important care and handling can be in any breeding program, particularly of young animals. Also, it showed how the ability of a young, immature animal to breed can change or alter from time to time, according to conditions he might be subjected to.

We believe the horse was abused and improperly bred without consideration of his age. We believe the plaintiff gave no consideration to the effect of the hauling, the weather, the infection contracted on plaintiff's premises, his stiff-leggedness, that developed at plaintiff's place indicating unknown conditions that he might have been subjected to. We do not believe he should have been turned into pastures with fillies that might come in heat and cause excessive breeding and stress, or that he should have been fed a touchy drug for prolonged periods of time. We do not believe that the defendant must guarantee against such treatment. When we consider this kind of treatment with the fact that the stallion in the hands of the defendant bred two mares and evidently settled both, but absolute proof of impregnation of one was made, then we would have to conclude that at the time of delivery he was as represented. We believe that the court was correct in finding and granting a judgment of no cause of action.